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v. Transworld Systems Incorporated et al

THE HONORABLE JOHN C. COUGHENOUH

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERNDISTRICT OFWASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE
ESTHER HOFFMAN et al, CASE NO.C18-11323CC
Plaintiffs, ORDER

V.

TRANSWORLD SYSTEMS
INCORPORATED et al,

Defendans.

This matter comes before the Court on Defendants Patenaude & Felix, APEY ‘&
Matthew Cheung’s (“Cheung”) motion to dismiss (Dkt. No. 15) and Defendant Transworld
Systems Inc.’s (“TSI”) joinder to the motion (Dkt. No. 17) (collectivelyg“thotion to dismiss”
Plaintiffs’ amended complaint (Dkt. No. 1-4). Having thorougtdynsidered the parties’ briefin
and the relevant record, the Court finds oral argument unnecessary and herebySIRANT
motion in part and DENIES the motion in part for the reasons explained herein.

. BACKGROUND
A. Defendants
There are a number of Natior@bllegiate Student Loan Trusts (collectively, the

“NCSLTSs") at issue, which are not named as defendantssicabe. (Dkt. No. 1-44)The

L In their complaint, Plaintiffs state that the NCSLTs at issue are, “Nationalg@atie
Master Student Loan Trust, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust 2003idnal&tollegiate
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NCSLTs are Delaware statutory trusts that allegedly own student loan nlggptirchased
from banks or other finam institutions. [d.) TSl is incorporated under the laws of Californig
and is a Washington licensed debt collection agemay.$ince November 2014, TSI has serv
as a successor sgbrvicer to the successor special servicer of the NCSId[3 TSI has been
responsible for collecting on defaulted loans allegedly contained in the NC3idlayersees
law firms that file collection lawsuits against debtors whose debts are ajlégpdlin the
NCSLTs. (d.)

P&F is a Washington licensed debt colledtmat also operates as a law firdd.] P&F
provides services as both a collection agency and a law famCheung is an attorney license
to practice law in Washingtond() P&F and Cheung (collectively, “Law Firm”) were retained
by TSI, and collecor attempto oollect debts referred by TSI and the NCSLT8.)(

B. Judicial Notice

Defendants request that the Court take judicial notice of documents that wekne file
various collectionawsuitsfiled in King County Superior Court and in litigation in the United
States District Court for the District of Delaware. (Dkt.sNt5 at 217 at 2;seeDkt. No. 16.)
Plaintiffs request that the Court take judicial notice of various docunnelatted to litigation in
Washington and Delaware, unpublished cases, and a page from the Washington Dephrtn
Revenue website. (Dkt. No. 21.) Pursuant to Federal Rules of Evidence 201(b)(2) an@)}0]

the Court takes judicial notice of the offered documénts.

Student Loan Trust 2004-1, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust2dddtional Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2005-1, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust200&tional Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2005-3, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust2dd&tional Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2006-2, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust200&tional Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2006-4, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust2@dational Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2007-2, National Collegiate Student Loan Trust20d0ational Collegiate
Student Loan Trust 2007-4[.]” (Dkt. No.4lLat 2)

2 Although the Court generally may not consider material outside of the pleadings i
ruling on a Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) motion, “documents whose congents &
alleged in a complaint and whose authority no party questions, but which are not physical
attached to the pleading” may be consideB¥dnch v. Tunnell14 F.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir.
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C. Plaintiff Esther Hoffman

In 2004, Hoffman took out a student loan in the amount of $6,000. (Dkt. &y Her
mother agreed to make payments on the loan, but failed to dd.ydn (or around 2013,
Hoffman’s mother was served with a summons by Law Firm, and Hoffman began making
payments to P&F.Id.) After Hoffman became unable to make payments, Law Firm filed a
conplaintagainst Hoffman on behalf of NCSLT 2004-&i.{ Dkt. No. 16-1 at 7.) In August
2016, Law Firm filed a motion for default judgment that was supported by an affstgvitd by
Dudley Turner, an employee of TSI. (Dkt. Nos. 1-4;11&t 2-36, 40—-41.) The state court
entered a default judgment against Hoffman, and Law Firm subsequently Yiérdlserits of
garnishment attemptg to collect the judgment balance. (Dkt. Nos. 1-4; 16-1 at 43-44.)

In January 2017, counsel appeared on behalf of Hoffman and sent a letter to tBheu
referenced stipulated consent order TSI had entered into with the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), discussiadra. (Dkt. No. 1-4.)Two weeks after her counsel sent
the letter, Hoffman received a letter from Law Firm that included copies af afwarnishment
and application for writ of garnishmenid)

D. Plaintiff Sarah Douglass

In 2005 and 2006, Douglass took out two student loans in the amounts of $2,000 a|
$2,500. [d.) On April 24, 2017, Law Firm filed two complaints on behalf of NCSLT 2006-3
against Douglass in King County Superior Coud.; (Dkt. No. 16-1 at 53.) The next day, Law
Firm filed a motion for entry of a default judgment against Douglass in both easésof which
were supported by an affidavit signed by Brian Jackson, a TSI employee. (3ktl-M; 162 at
4, 7-36.) The state court entered default judgment against Douglass in both dasésgDl-
4; 16-2 at 38-40.)

1994),overruled on other grounds by Galbraith v. Cnty. of Santa CB0a F.3d 1119 (9th Cir.
2002). The Court may also take judicial notice of matters of public record while comgide
motion to dismissMack v. South Bay Beer Distrjlx98 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 1986).
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Douglass learned of the default judgments in June 2017, when she received copies
judgments in the maftom Law Firm.(Dkt. No. 1-4.) In July 2017, Law Firm filed an affidavit
of garnishment. (Dkt. No. 16-1 at 50.) In November 2017, counsel appeared on behalf of
Douglass. (Dkt. No. 1-4; Dkt. No. 1Bat 42.) Douglass challenged the service of process as
improper in both cases, and the state court vacated the default judgments. (Dkt. Nos2 &,
45-82.) One case was dismissed without prejudice following Law Firm’s motion for wglunt
dismissal, and the other remains pending. (Dkt. Nos. 1-3,4t6L-6.)

E. Plaintiffs Anthony Kim, Il Kim, and Daria Kim?3

From 2005 to 2007, Anthony took out six student loans totaling $76,500. (Dkt. No.
In January 2015, his mother Daria was served with a summons for a collection lded iy fi
Law Firm on behalf of NCSLT 2005-2 against Anthony and his fathddl). Anthony
responded to the sipto se (Id.) In June 2015, Anthony learned that P& dhnitiated
garnishment of his bank account on behalf of NCSLTs 2005-2, 2005-3, 2006-1, and 26071
The Kims learned that Law Firm had obtained default judgments against them ialiyvahd
collectively for each NCSLT.d.) In support of itsnotions for default judgment, Law Firm hag
filed affidavitssigned by Turnerld.)

In October 2015, counsel appeared on behalf of the KlchsDOkt. No. 163 at28-29,
89-90.) Counsel for the Kims filed an amended complaint in one suit and moved toes#tas
default judgments in the others, arguing that Daria had only received the summons and
complaint for one of the lawsuits. (Dkt. Nos. 1-4; 15 at 5; 16-3 at 89-105.) The state court
vacated the default judgments, and all of the lawsuits aghmgtimswere ultimately dismisseq
for lack of prosecution. (Dkt. Nos. 1-4; 15 at 5-6;31&t 8-35, 37-40.)

F. Affidavits and Verifications of Amounts

Plaintiffs allege that each of the affidavits filed in support of Law Firm’s metfor

3 Individualmembers of the Kim family will be referred to by their first names for claf

The Court means no disrespect by using this naming convention.
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default judgmentveredeficient. (Dkt. No. 14.) For examplePlaintiffs assert that the affiants
falsely stated they had personal knowledge and were thereby authorized antéobtotestify
about the alleged debtsl() Plaintiffs further allegeéhat Defendants neither sessed
documentation necessary to establish that the NCSLTs owned the debts or Dsfeigtiand
collect on the debts nor knew where such documentation was loddteRIgintiffs further
assert that Defendants filed lawsuits without the intent or ability to prove kaienscas they
were aware of the affidavits’ deficiencigkl.)

G. Delaware L itigation

1. Stipulated Consent Order

TSI and the CFPB stipulated to entry of a consent order, which was filed on Sapten
18, 2017 (the “Consent Order”). (Dkt. No. 1-1 at 48, 81-84.) The Consent Order applies tq
actions taken by TSI and the law firms it hired between November 1, 2014 and April 25, 2
(Id. at 53, 55.) The Consent Order applies to the parties to it and their successorsst) artdr
TSI does not admit or deny any of the Consent Order’s findings of fact or conclatlans
(Id. at 49, 83.) The Consent Order’s findings of fact dtea&in numerous instancdsw firms
retained by TSI filed false and misleading affidavits in support ONtBSLTS’ claims that
consumers owed debts to the NCSLTd. &t 53.) The Consent Order also found that law firm
retained by TSI had filed collection lawsuits without the intent or ability to prevel#ms if
contested because they lacked documentation of the chain of assignment and could nottp
a debt was owed to the relevant NCSUd. &t 55-56.)

The Consent Order prohibitdl from causinghe law firms it had retainet continue
to pursue collection lawsuiteat TSI had any reason to l@e may be unenforceabléd.(at
61-62.)It also required TSHo direct the law firms that were engaged in collection lawsuits t(
either withdraw misleading affidavits or dismiss the lawsuits, and to hafjymzghent
enforcement activities if a collection lawsuit involving a misleading affidavit haddreeen
resolved. [d. at 62—64.)
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2. Consent Judgment

Also on September 18, 2017, the CFPB filed a civil action for injunctive relief adjaén
NCSLTs in Delaware.fkt. No. 1-9 (citing Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. The
National Collegiate Master Student Loan Trust et@bs. No. 17%v-01323-GMS (D. Del. 2017)
(“the CFPB Trust Action”). TSI and the CFPB filed a proposed consent judgment with the
Delaware district courtOkt. No. 1-1at 86-125.) The proposed consent judgment has not beg
entered by the district court, and multiple entities have intervened in the oiggatgn. (d.;
Dkt. No. 16-4 at 56—65.)

H. Collection Actionsin Washington

The amended complaint alleges that,if{s¢ entry of the TSI Consent Order on
September 18, 2017, Defendants have continued filing collection lawsuits in Washington ¢
accounts they allege are owned by the NCSLTKt.(No. 1-4 at 30.) The amended complain
further alleges that Defendants hdaied to voluntarily dismiss all NCSLT collection lawsuitg
in Washington in which Defendants have not complied with the Consent Order, and have
continued to seek to enforce judgments without having complied with the Consent [@ryer.

Plaintiffs fileda complaint on behalf of thesalvesand others similar situated, alleging
violations of the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15@1.81692, the
Washington Consumer Protection Act (“CPA"), WashingRavisedCodesection19.86, and
the Washington Collection Agencies Act (“CAA”), Washington Revised Ged#on19.16.
(Dkt. No. 1-1 at 35—-42.) Defendants now move to dismiss Plaintiffs’ amended comptaint f

failure to state a claim upon which relief can be grar(@kt. Nos. 15, 17%)

4 Plaintiffs request that the Court strike parts of the statement of facts mjdiStler to

U)

en

n

[

the motion to dismisasunsupported by citation to the record and as alleging facts outside the

presentecord (Dkt. No. 20 at 3—4.JThe requesto strike is DENIED, but the Court will not rel
on improperly cited factual assertions or factual assestoutside the scope thie amended
complaint.
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. DISCUSSION

A. Shotgun Pleading

Defendants request that the Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ amended complaint aviéhtte
amend as an improper shotgun pleading. (Dkt. No. 15 at@gading may constitutena
impermissibleshotgun pleading if, after incorporating all antecedent facts by re&enerifails
to connect its factual allegations to the elements comprising the Plaintiffs’ ¥atams.”In re
Metro. Sec. Litig.532 F. Supp. 2d 1260, 1279-80 (E.D. Wash. 2007). Although each of
Plaintiffs’ claims for relief in their amended complaint incorporate all of the edést
allegations of the complaint, each of Plaintiffs claims also prasitdéons to particular statuteg
and supporting factual allegationSegDkt. No. 1-4at 30-36.) Therefore, the amended
complaint does not constitute an impermissible shotgun pleading, and dismissabw&tihd
amend is not warranted on this ground.

B. Motion to Dismiss

1. Legal Sandard

The Court may dismiss a complaint thails to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must conta

sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim for relief thatsgofdann its face.

Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 677-78 (2009). A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff

pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inferdrhe ttefendant is
liable for the misconduct allegeldl. at 678.

A plaintiff is obligated tgorovide grounds fohis orher entitlement to relief that amoun
to more than labels and conclusions or a formulaic recitation of the elements o afcacison.
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 545 (2007). “[T]he pleading standard Rule 8
announces does not require ‘detailed factual allegations,’ but it demands more than an

unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfulgrmedme accusation.lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678.
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2. Factual Sufficiency

Defendants broadly arguleat the amended complaint does not pkaaticient factual
content to establish a plausible claim for relief because it does not allege thatddetefailed
to comply with the Consent Order. (Dkt. No. 15 at 10.) But the amended complaint allegeq
that the affidavits and documentation fileg Defendants were insufficient to establish their
right to collect on the debts, and that Defendants failed to comply with the Condenin®en
they did not voluntarily dismiss collection lawsutshalt enforcing judgments in which they d
not conduct required review and verificatioBe€Dkt. No. 1-4 at 16-17, 257 aken as true, the
amended complaimontains factual allegationisat suggest Defendants did not compith the
Consent Order, and thus establishes a plausible claim for relief on its féeed&¥s’ motion tg
dismiss is DENIED on this grourtd.

3. Sufficiency of the Affidavits

TSI argues that the affidavits filed in the collection lawsuits against Plaintifes we
sufficient to prove the assignment of thebtsto the NCSLTs anthat the affiants were
“custodians” or “other qualified witnesses” qualified to testify to the NIZSownership of the
debts and Defendants’ right to collect on debts (Dkt. No. 17 at 7-8)djting State v. Quingy
95 P.3d 353, 355 (Wash. Ct. App. 2p@avand v. OneWest Bard85 P.3d 233, 246 (Wash.
Ct. App. 2016)as modifiedDec. 15, 2016)). Buhe amended complaint alleges that each
affidavit does not provide documentation sufficient to prove that Plaintiffs’ debts had bee
assigned to the respective NCSLi#&t Defendantdid not possess or review such
documentation, anthat Defendanta/ere aware the documentation was IdSeq|, e.g.Dkt. Nos.

1-4 at 89; 16-1 at 22—24) (allegations concerning Turner affidded in Hoffman’s case)The

® TSI argues for the first time in its reply brief that Plaintiffs’ primary allegatidraised
solely on “information and belief,” and thus “does not provide a sufficient factual foesustain
either an BCPA or WCPA/WCAA claim.” (Dkt. No. 27 at 2-3.) “The district court need not
consider arguments raised for the first time in a reply br#rhani v. Carnes491 F.3d 990,
997 (9th Cir. 2007). The Court declines to address TSI's untimely argument.

ORDER
C181132JCC
PAGE- 8

both

id




© 00O N o o A W N P

NN NN NN R R R R R R R R R R
OO 00 N N -, OO 00 N oY 010NN 0 N -RE O

amended complaint also alleges that the affiants falsely swore to havingaeviewelevant
documents and having personal knowledge of the relevant record managemensp(&egce
Dkt. No. 1-4 at 17.YSI's arguments an@sufficient to overcome the amended complaint’s wg
pled facts, whiclthe Court acceptas true when considering a motion to dismigbal, 556 U.S.
ate677-78.

TSI also argues that Plaintiffs lack standing to challenge the assignniéatruiffs’
debtsto the NCSLTs because Plaintiffs were not parties to the relevant deposale&and s
agreements and pool supplements. (Dkt. No. 17 @) gis is irrelevant. Plaintiffs’ arguments
focus on the insufficiency of the affidavits to establish that the NCSLTedwhe debts or that
Defendants were entitled to bring collection lawsuits against Plaintiffs, areddfewere
misleading. (Dkt. No. 1-4 at 15-18.) The amended complaint does not challenge the purp
underlying assignment of debts to the NCSLTs as improper. Thus, Defendantsi tooti
dismiss is DENIED on these grounds.

4. FDCPA Claims

“[T]he FDCPA is a remedial statute aimed at curbing what Congress considéesdrio
industry-wide pattern of and propensity towards abusing debto@atk v. Capitl Credit &
Collection Servs., Inc460 F.3d 1162, 1171 (9th Cir. 2006). “An FDCPA plaintiff need not e
have actually been misled or deceived by the debt collector’s representatiesuy itigbility
depends on whether thgpotheticatleast sophisticated tior’ likely would be misled.”
Tourgeman v. Collins Fin. Servs., Iné55 F.3d 1109, 1117-18 (9th Cir. 2014) (emphasis in

original). The least sophisticated debtor standard is lower than examinirftewaetasonable

debtor wouldbe deceived or mislead by particular langu&yeanson v. S. Oregon Credit Serv.

Inc., 869 F.2d 1222, 1227 (9th Cir. 1988).
i. FDCPAStatute of Limitations
A claim arising under the FDCPA must be brought “within one year from theodate
which the violatioroccurs.”15 U.S.C. 8 1694kl). Generally, the FDCPA's statute of limitatio
ORDER
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begins to run when the allegedly improper collection lawsuit is fNegs v. Stolmari30 F.3d
892, 893 (9th Cir. 1997). The discovery rule, under which “the statute of limitations for a
particular clam does not accrue until that claim is discovered, or could have been discover
with reasonable diligence, by the plaintipplies to FDCPA claim$abelli v. S.E.C.568
U.S. 442, 447 (2013) (quotirf E.C. v. Gabelli653 F.3d 49, 59 (2d Cir. 2011 Mangum v.
Action Collection Serv., Inc575 F.3d 935, 940 (9th Cir. 2009herefore, a complaint will be
timely if it is served within one year of when the plaintiff “knows or hasardo know of the
injury which is the basisfahe action."Mangum 575 F.3cdat 940 (internal quotations omitted);
seeLyons v. Michael & Asso¢s824 F.3d 1169, 1171-72 (9th Cir. 2006 plaintiff is
unaware that a debt collection lawsuit has been filed, thg@mestatute of limitations under th
FDCPA begins to run when he or she receives service of process).

The parties agree that the initial complaint in this case was filddimoa 20, 2018. (Dkt.
Nos. 22 at 11; 25 at 4.) Hoffman was notified that a summons and complaint had been se
her mother in 2013, and a default judgment was entered against her on August 25, 2016 &
Defendants filed an affidavit signed by Turner. (Dkt. No4.4t-710; 16-1 at 43-44.)
Defendants have not taken any action in the collection lawsuits filed agaikStthaince
2015. (Dkt. Nos. 1-4 at 14; 15 at 12; 16-3 at 11-1084 86+-49.) Thus, Hoffman and the
Kims’ claims are timebarred beause theyere aware of the injury that forms the basis of thg
FDCPA claims over a year before the filing of thiéial complaint in this caselherefore,
Hoffman and the Kims’ claims for violation of the FB& are DISMISSED with prejudice

The amendedomplaint alleges that Douglass learned of the lawsuits when she rece
copies of the default judgments entered against her in June 2017. (Dkt. No. 1-4rakiy Xhe
amended complaint’s allegation as true and applying the discovery rule, the FOS&Ateof

limitations began to run on the dBypuglasseceived the copies of the default judgments. Bu

6 A dismissal with prejudice is appropriate because amendment would be futile.
Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans, 1666 F.3d 1034, 1041 (9th Cir. 2011).
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Plaintiffs do not assert the particular day on which Douglass received tldt gefgments.
Certain days of June 2017 fall outside of the statute of limitations period extendingdrack fr
June 20, 2018. Thus, Plaintiffs have not alleged sufficient factual matter toststhhti
Douglass’s claim complied with the FDCPA's statute of limitatidinerefore, Douglass’s clain

for violation of the FDCPA is DISMISSED without prejudice and with leave to amend.

—

Plaintiffs argue thabecausehe CFPB Consent Order was not published until September

2017, “the parties here could not have reasonably understood the fraud and misrepresent
committed by théefendants.” (Dkt. No. 22 at 11.) This is unavailing, as the cases applying
discovery rule to the FDCPA's statute of limitations focus on when the plairsdbdered or
could have discovered the facts underlying the FDCPA claim, not the plaisiiffsctive
understanding of the violatioBee Mangunb75 F.3d at 941;yons 824 F.3d at 1171-72.
Plaintiffs could have discovered the insufficiency of the affidavits through #reis& of
reasonable diligenceegardless of whether the Consent Order was enfenedefore, the date
on which the Consent Order was published is not the operative date from which the statut
limitations began to run on Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims.

ii.  Materiality

Defendants argue thdtd flaws in the affidavits identified by Plaintiffs are not material

under the FDCPA because they “did not undermine Plaintiffs’ ability to irdellig choose
action concerning the debt.” (Dkt. No. 15 at 11.) “Material false representation® .thcsar that
could ‘cause the least sophisticated debtor to suffer a disadvantage in chaotingesof action
in response to the collection effortAfewerki v. Anaya Law Grp868 F.3d 771, 776 (9th Cir.
2017) (quotinglourgeman v. Collins Fin. Servs., In¢55 F.3d 1109, 711 (9th Cir. 2014)as

" Law Firm appears to have mistakenly argued that Hoffman, as opposed to Doug|
learned of theollection lawsuit prior tdlune 2017. (Dkt. No. 25 at 4.) Plaintiffs filed a surrep
requesting that the Court strike Law Firm’s argument as beyond the st®laintiffs’response,
(Dkt. No. 28.) Because Law Firm’s argument regarding Hoffman had no bearing Gotint’s
conclusion, the Court declines to strike the argument.
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amended on denial of reh'g and reh'g en b@dct. 31, 20149) “Immaterial false
representations, by contrast, are those that are ‘literally false dautimgful only to the
‘hypertechnical’ reader.’Td. The affdavits at issue purported to establish that the NCSLTs
owned the debts at issue and that Defendants were entitled to bring collectiotslagaunst
Plaintiffs. (Dkt. No. 1-4 at 17:8.) The amended complaint alleges that the affidavits were
insufficient to establish either ground due to misrepresentations concerninfiathis’gbersonal
knowledge and the attached documentatimh) Such misrepresentations are plainly material
under the FDCPA. The hypothetical least sophisticated debtor’s decisitimewttechallenge
that the debt was owed to a particular NCSLT or that Defendants were entlitatgta
collection lawsuit against him or her would certainly be affebyed sworn affidavit purporting
to establish the samBefendants’ motion to dismiss is DENIED on this ground.

ii.  DefendantsLiability under he FDCPA

TSI contends that it cannot be liable to Plaintiffs for violation of the FDCPA bethes
amended complaint alleges that TSI was the servicer of the NCSLTs, and$h& dN@ere
assigned the relevant delisfore they were in default. (Dkt. No. 17 at 9311.

The amended complaint does not explicitly name TSI as a “debt collector;VéQwe
alleges that TSI has been a successoissmldcer to the successor special servicer of the
NCSLTs since November 2014, and has been responsible for collecting on defaulted loan
alleged to be owed to the NCSLTs since that tifp&t. No. 14 at 3-10.) The amended
complaint further alleges that “TSI is directly or indirectly engaged iniBngiaclaims for
collection, or collecting or attempting to collect claims owedue or asserted to be owed or
asserted to be due to another persdd.) Thus, the amended complaint has pled sufficient
factual allegations, taken as true, to plausibly bring TSI within the definitioridefta collector”
under the FDCPASeel5U.S.C. 88 1692¢6), (6)(F)(iii); Amini v. Bank of Am. Corp2013 WL
1898211, slip op. at 5 (W.D. Wash. 2013)t(ng that “the difference between loan servicers
who are not subject to the FDCPA and those who are is whether the debt that is Iesstepcol
ORDER
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was already in default when taken for servicing”)

The amended complaint has also alleged that the documents attached to thé¢saffidg
filed in support of the motions for default judgment against Plaintiffs wereficisat to
establish either that the NBBLTs were owed the debts at issue or that Defendants were entif]
collect on the debtsSgeeDkt. Nos. 1-4 at 14, 22, 30; 16-1 at 22 TSI’s reliance on the samg
documents to argue that it cannot be liable under the FDCPA is misfdacadse icannot
overcome the deficiencies identified by the amended complaint and the amendealrdtsmpl
allegation that TSI has been responsible for collecting defaulted loans sincel@a1Ma| 1-4
at4-5.)°

Law Firm argues that it cannot be held vicariously liable under the FDCPA facthef
its clients or its loan servicer. (Dkt. No. 15 at 11.) But “lawyers who regulalligot debts
through litigation” fall within the scope of the FDCPM¥cCollough v. Johnson, Rodenburg &
Lauinger, LLC 637 F.3d 939, 948 (9th Cir. 201(tjting Heintz v. Jenkin14 U.S. 291, 293—
94 (1995) (holding attorney who represented bank liable under the FDCPA as a detuircollg
based on actions taken in litigation to collect or attempt to collect consumer).des)
amendedomplaint alleges that Law Firm has been filing collection lawsuits against Viashi
consumers on behalf of the NCSLTs since 2006. (Dkt. No. 1-4 at 16.) The amended comg
further alleges that Law Firm knowingly filed false and misleading affislan support of
motions for default judgment in their efforts to collect on debts allegedly owBthbtiffs to
the NCSLTs(See, e.gid. at 13-14.herefore, the amended complaint states a plausible c3

of action against Law Firm for violation of the FDCPA for actions taken as @meyt

8 TSI appears to argue for the first time in its reply brief that Plaintiffsrioachallenge,
either preemptively or after the judgment has been entered, the evideutiagyof the state
court under the guise of FDCPA and WCPA/WCAA claims,” relying on an unpublishedf-oy
circuit case. (Dkt. No. 27 at 5) (quotidglisi v. Midland FundingLLC, 2015 WL 4393901,
slip op. at 7 (E.D. Mo. 2015)). The Court rejects TSI's arguragnintimelyZamanj 419 F.3d
at 997.
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iv. 15U.S.C. 88 1692¢e(2)(A), (10)

A debt collector may not make a “false representation of . . . the character, amount
legal status of a debt?5 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A). Further, a debt collector is prohibited from
“[t]he use of any false misrepresentation or deceptive means to collect or atierolct any
debt[.]” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 169Z20). The amended complaint alleges thafendants filedffidavits
in support otheir motions for default judgmeniatwere insufficient to establish that the
NCSLTs owned theebtsat issue or that Defendants were entitled to collect on the loans or
behalf of the NCSLTs. (Dkt. No. 1-4 at 3&e alsdkt. Nos. 14 at 89; 16-1 at 22—-24.) The
amended complaint further alleges that Defenddidt®i0t possess or revieve relevant
documentation prior to filing suit, and were aware that the documentation was unav¢siab)e
e.g, Dkt. No. 1-4 at 6.) Thus, the amended complaint hageadla plausible claim that
Defendants falsely represented the legal status of the student loans atisstlewfiledthe
affidavits, and thus violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A). Further, the amended complaint hag
alleged a plausible claim that the affidawitsistituted a deceptive means of collecting or
attempting to collect Plaintiffs’ debtand thereby violated 15 U.S.C. § 16@@¥. Therefore,
Defendants’ motions to dismiss are DENIED on this ground.

v. 15U.S.C. §1692¢e(5)

A debt collector is prohibited from “[t]he threat to take any action that cannditylega

taken or that is not intended to be taken.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(5). The Seventh Circuit has

that filing a collection lawsuit is not a “threat” within the meanind®1J.S.C. § 1692¢e(5), eve

TSl argues that it did not violafi®s U.S.C. 88§ 1692e(2)(A) and (10) because Plaintif]
concede that they took out the underlying loans and do not challenge the documentsdstdor
the state courts as insufficient to have judgment entered against them. (Dkt. No. 17 at 12.
Neither argument has merit. First, tRBCPA “is designed to protect consumers who have bq
victimized by unscrupulous debt collectors, regardless of whether a valid tedityaexists.”
Baker v. G.C. Servs. Cor67 F.2d 775, 777 (9th Cir. 1982). Second, the amended complg
repeatedhalleges that the documentation attached to the affidavits, which purportediislest
that the NCSLTs owned the debts at issue and that Defendants were entitléstt@ndhe
debts, were insufficientSge, e.g.Dkt. No. 14 at 89, 16-18.)
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if the debt collector filed the lawsuit with no intention to proceed to 8talJohn v. Cach, LLC
822 F.3d 388, 391-92 (7th Cir. 2016). The Court finds the Seventh Circuit’s reasoning
persuasive, and hereby adopts it. The amended complaint’s allegations concerningc15 U.!
8 1692e(5) focus on Defendants’ litigation efforts to collect the dekegDkt. No. 1-4 at 36.)
Therefore, Douglss’s FDCPA claim for violation df5 U.S.C. § 16948) is DISMISSED
without prejudice and with leave to amend.
vi. 15U.S.C. § 1692f

“A debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt
collect any debt.15 U.S.C. § 1692fThe amended complaint alleges that Defendants filed
affidavits purporting to establish that the Plaintitfebts wer@wnedby the NCSLTs and that
Defendants were entitled to collect on the debts, although the affidavits lackeztédssary
documentation and Defendants knew that the necessary documentation was una&skable.
e.g, Dkt. No. 1-4at14;see alsad. at 36-37.) These allegations are sufficient to raise a
reasonable inference that Defendants are liable for violatidh of£.S.C .8 1692f Theefore,
Defendants’ motion to dismiss is DENIED on this ground.

5. CPAClaims
I.  Per Se Violation of the CPAFDCPA

“When a violation of debt collection regulations occurs, it constitutes a per seovia&
the CPA . . . under state and federal law, reflecting the public policy significartee of t
industry.” Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washingt@f4 P.3d 885, 897 (Wash. 20@8iting 15
U.S.C. § 1692 Because Hoffman and the Kims’ FDCPA claims are dismissed with prejudi
their claims foiper seviolations of the CPA based on their FDCPA claims are also DISMIS{

with prejudice!® Douglass’s claims foper seviolations of the FDCPA are DISMISSED withol

10 Plainiffs argue that the Court should allow Hoffman and the Kims to proceed with
their claims foiper seviolations of the CPA based on their FDCPA claims, which were
meritorious other than being tin@arred. (Dkt. No. 22 at 16-18.) Plaintiffs ask the Court to
reject recent decisions of other courts in this district, which have rejectdar frgumentsSee
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prejudice. If Plaintiffs can show upon amendment that Douglass was notified of thit defa
judgments against her within one year of the present lawsuit being filed on June 20, 2018
may proceed with her clainfier per seviolations of the CPA based on her remaining FDCPA
claims.
ii.  Per Se Violation of the CPAGAA

“[A] violation of the provisions of the Collection Agency Act is a per se violation of tf
Consumer Protection ActEvergreen Collectors v. Hol803 P.2d 10, 12 (Wash. Ct. App.
1991); Wash. Rev. Code § 19.16.440.

a. RCW 19.16.250(16)

“No licensee or employee of a licensee shall . . . [tlhreaten to take any action Hggin
debtor which the licensee cannot legally take at the time the threat is madh.”R¢a. Code
§ 19.16.250(16)The amended complaint alleges that Defendants violhiegrovisionby
continuing litigation and collection activities after the Consent Order wasiedewithout
conducting the necessary review and verificat{@kt. No. 1-4 at 34.) Plaintiffs contend that
Defendants’ failure to comply with the Consent Order “constituted implicitthteaontinue
the proceedings, which they could not legally do.” (Dkt. Nd.&4t-19.) Plaintiffs’ allegations

concern only actions taken by Defendants that they allegedly did not have &legal take,

not threats to take such action. The parties have not offered, and thes@mardware of, a case¢

applying Revised Code of Washington section 19.16.250(16) to unlawful actionseta delbts,

as opposed to threats to take such action. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ claiper feeviolations of the

Kotok v. Homecomings Fire009 WL 2057046, slip op. at 4 (W.D. Wash. 2009) (dismigsang
seCPA claim where predicated on tifbarred Truth in Lending & (“TILA”) and Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act (‘RESPA”) claimBgdnaruk v. NW Trustee Servs., Ji210 WL
545643, slip op. at 3 (W.D. Wash. 2010) (dismisgiagseCPA claim where predicated on
time-barred TILA and RESPA claims, relying &wotoK); Lyons v. Homecomings Fin. L|.Z70
F. Supp. 2d 1163, 1167 (W.D. Wash. 2011) (dismisgergseCPA violation predicated on
time-barred TILA claim, relying oiKotoK. The Court declines to reject these recent cases, g
concludes that Plaintiffs’ timbarred FDCPA claims cannot be a basis for their clainpgiose
violations of the CPA.
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CPA based on violation of Revised Code of Washington section 19.16.250(16) are DISMI
without prejudice and with leave to amend.
b. RCW 19.16.250(21)
Licensees and their employees are generally restricted to collecting ortattetop
collect the principal amount of a claim plus allowable interest, collection cost dlirfitafees

authorized by statute, or attorney fees and taxable court costs if a suiehdsdugght. Wash.

Rev. Code § 19.16.250(21). If a violation of Revised Code of Washington section 19.16.2%

occurs, anyone collecting orckim is thereafter limited to the amount of the original claim or

obligation. Wash. Rev. Code § 19.16.450.

The amended complaint alleges, in order, that: (1) “Defendants violated RCW
19.16.250(16) when they continued litigation and collection . . . after they had agreed . . . 1
cease collection . . . until they verified that NCSLT was actually assigeegttounts;” (2)
“Pursuant to RCW 19.16.450, if an act or practice of a collection agency violates RCW
19.16.250, neither the licensee nor any other entity can ever collect anythindpathiret
principal amount of the debt owed;” (3) “Because Defendants violated RCW 19.16.250¢th
never entitled to collect anything other than the principal amount of the debts owé&sby C
members against whom they sought to collect after the CFPD Consent Oragrtevad;” and
(4) “Defendants violated and continue to violate RCW 19.16.250(21) by seeking to collect
amounts other than the principal from Washington consumers after entry of the @teBtc
order.” (d.)

The amended complaint appears to premise Defendants’ alleged violation &dRevis

SSED

(0]

ey ar

Code of Washington section 19.16.250(21) on Defendants’ initial violation of Revised Code of

Washington sections 19.16.250(16) and 19.16.450. Plaintiffs’ response to Defendants’ md
dismiss appears to advance this argument again, as it first cites Defendatmsirng collection
efforts following the execution of the Consent Order before arguing that Defendalated
Revised Code of Washington section 19.16.250(21) by “contin[ing] to try to collect the ent
ORDER

C181132JCC
PAGE- 17

tion to




© 00O N o o A W N P

NN NN NN R R R R R R R R R R
OO 00 N N -, OO 00 N oY 010NN 0 N -RE O

balance alleged to be due in their state court cantplagainst Plaintiffs.” (Dkt. No. 22 at 21.)
As discussed above, the amended complaint does not contain sufficient factuaba#dgat

establish a plausible claim that Defendants violated Revised Code of Washingtmm sec

19.16.250(16). Therefore, Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of Revised Code of Washingtoorse¢

19.16.250(21) is also DISMISSED without prejudice and with leave to amend.
iii.  PrivateCPA Claim

“[T]o prevail in a private CPA action . . . a plaintiff must establish five distinct elesne
(1) unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or comn(@jgeviblic interest
impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property; (5) causatitangman Ridge
Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. ,Gd.9 P.2d 531, 533 (Wash. 1986enerally, “[t]he
term ‘trade’ as used by the Consumer Protection Act includes only the entrefaieoe
commercial aspects of professional services, not the substantive qualityicéserovided.”
Ramos v. Arnoldl69 P.3d 482, 486 (Wask007). “In a legal practice entrepreneurial aspect;
include *how the price of legal services is determined, billed, and collected andytlaclava
firm obtains, retains, and dismisses clientslithael v. Mosquera-La¢y00 P.3d 695, 699
(Wash. 2009) (quotin§hort v. Demopolj$91 P.2d 163, 168 (Wash. 1984)

The amended complaint’s allegations in support of Plaintiffs’ private CPA &eins on
Defendants’ litigation actions. (Dkt. No.4lat 36.) Specifically, the amendeahtplaint alleges
that Defendants acted unfairly and deceptively by filing and sending falsmialeading
affidavits, violating the Consent Order, and knowingly filing false affidaditls) These actions
do not implicate the entrepreneurial or commém@spects of Defendants’ services, and canng
support a private CPA clairRamos 169 P.3d at 48Michael 200 P.3d at 699 herefore,
Plaintiffs’ private CPA claim is DISMISSED with prejudi¢é

11 A dismissal with prejudice is appropriate because amendment would be futile.
Cervantes 656 F.3dat 1041.
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C. Litigation Privilege

Defendants contend that PlaintiffSPA claims are barred by Washington'’s litigation

privilege. (Dkt. Nos. 15 at 21-22; 17 at 15.) Under Washington law, witnesses and attorngys

participating in the legal process are immune from civil liability for claimsdasdheir

testimony.Wynn v. Eain, 181 P.3d 806, 810 (Wash. 2008yvelker v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc.

564 P.2d 1131, 1133 (Wash. 197aintiffs’ surviving CPA claim is premised on Defendants

allegedviolation of the FDCPA, which in turn constituteper seviolation of the CPANeither
party has cited, and the Cotigtnot aware gfcase law holding thagter seviolations of the CPA
based on violations of the FDCPA are barred by Washington’s litigation privilégeefore,
Plaintiffs may proceed with theuer seclaim for violation of the CPA where based on
Defendants’ alleged violation of the FDCPAPIaintiffs choose to amend their complaint to
assert factual allegations supporting their claims for violation of the CA#&k,dlaens forper se
violations of the CPA based on the violations of the CAA may proceed under the samis.an
But if Plaintiffs choose to amend their complaint to assert additional factual allegation
supporting theiprivate CPAclaim, they must also establish why such claim is not barred by
Washingta's litigation privilege.
[11.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant Patenaude & Felix, APC and Matthemg@heu

motion to dismiss (Dkt. No. 15) and Defendant Transworld Systems Inc.’s joinder to tha mot

to dismisg(Dkt. No. 17) Plaintiffs’ amended complaint (Dkt. No4)lare GRANTED in part
and DENIED in part. Pursuant to this order:
1. Plaintiffs Esther Hoffman, Anthony Kim, Daria Kim, and Il Kim’s claim
for violation of the FDCPA are DISMISSED with prejudice.
2. Plaintiff Sarah Douglass’s claim for violation of the FDCPA is
DISMISSED without prejudice and with leave to amend.
a. Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintidouglass’s claims for
ORDER
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violation of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692e(2)(A) and 1692e($MENIED.

b. Plaintiff Douglass’s claim for violation of 15 U.S.C. § 16&2ds
DISMISSED without prejudice and with leave to amend.

c. Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintidouglass’sclaim for violation
of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 DENIED.

3. Plaintiffs Hoffman and the Kims’ claims fg@er seviolations of the CPA
based on their claims for violation of the FDCPA are DISMISSED wit}
prejudice.

4. Plaintiff Douglass’s claim foper seviolations of the CPA based on her
claims for violation of the FDCPAra DISMISSED without prejudice an
with leave to amend

5. Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of Revised Code of Washington section
19.16.250(16) is DISISSED without prejudice and with leave to amen

6. Plaintiffs’ private CPA claim is DISMISSEWith prejudice.

If Plaintiffs choose to file an amended complathey must plead additional allegationg
to cure the deficiencies identified in this order. The amended complaint mustbeifiien 30
days of the issuance of this order. If filed, the amended complaint shall onigeradditional
allegations regardg those claims that were dismissed without prejudice and with leave to
amend.

DATED this2nd day of November 2018.

~ /
John C. Coughenour
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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